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IN TIIE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

IN RE:

Complaint Against:

PAUL J. KELLOGG (#0062303),

RESPONDENT

CINCINNATI BAR ASSOCIATION,

RELATOR

Case No. 09-2302

RELATOR'S OBJECTIONS

RELATOR'S OBJECTION TO THE FINDINGS OF FACT,
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS ON GRIEVANCES AND DISCIPLINE

Relator objects to the Board's reconnnended sanction against Respoisdent.

Relator submits the following brief in support of this objection.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent Paul Kellogg graduated froni the University of Dayton School of Law

and was adrnitted to the practice of law in Ohio in November 1993. (Fnidings of Fact, at

1). Iir 2003, Respondent 1net his friend Steve Warshak for lunch, whei-e the two discussed

the possibility of Respondent becoming general counsel of Warshak's company.

(Findings at 2). Shortly thereafter, Warshak offered Respondent the position with

Berlcelev Premium Nutraceutioals. (Findings at 2.) Respondent accepted the position in

an industry he knew vir-tually nothing about and failed to educate himself about the Food

and Drug Administration or how to handle FDA investigations. Respondent was

admittedly in over his head. (Hearing Transcript, May 22, 2009, at 102-104).

In late 2003, the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) began investigatiirg the

company after receiving a number of eonsumer complaints. (Findings at 2.) In March

2004, the first of six class action lawsuits was filed against Berkley. (Findings at 2.) In

May 2004, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) notified Respondent that they

planned to conduct an immediate investigation at Berkeley. (Findings at 2.) After these

investigations, Respondent faced federal felony charges. Respondent did not enter into a

plea agreeinent, rather, he went to trial and was convicted of six felony offenses inciuding

two counts of conspiracy to connnit money laundering, two counts of money laundering,
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one count of conspiracy to obstruct proceedings before the U.S. FTC and one count of

conspiracy to obstruct proccedings before the U.S. FDA. (Findings at 4).t

The two counts of conspiracy to commit money and the two comrts of money

laundeing are a result of Respondent's involvement in the Berkley's fraudulent "auto-

ship" system and funding of two trusts with the proceeds. (Findings at 4). Customers

were offered a free sample of the company's product, but wcrc required to provide their

credit card number in order to pay the slupping fees. (Relator's Exbibit 6 at 6-10)2 . After

the free sample was sent, Berkley would automatically ship additional product to the

customer and bill their credit card at regular inteivals. (Relator's Exhibit 6 at 10).

Custotners fowrd it nearly impossible to obtain a reftiuid ot- stop the shipments. ( Relator's

Exhibit 6 at 7.) Berkley engaged in a pattet-n of complex and unnecessary money

transfers to render the proceeds iinpossible to trace. (Relator's Exhibit 6 at 6-7).

Although Respondent did not begin working with Berkley until 2004, the

Govermnent argued that Respondent's awareness of the conzpany's practices pre-dated

his employment; as early as October 2002, when he served as outside counsel for

Berkley, he wrote a letter to the Better Business Bureau stating that he represented the

company regarding its "auto-ship" system. This was the heart of the defendants' Scheme

to defraud customes. (Relator's Exhibit 4, Government's Response to Kellogg's Motion

for Acquittal at 2-3; see crlso Relator's Exhibit 6 at 21).

The two counts of money laundering residted from Respondent's role in the

review, execution and fanding of two trusts for VJarsbak. (Findings at 3). These trusts

wei-e used to hide the proceeds o£the "auto-ship" conspiracy during a time when the FTC

' See Relator's Exliibit 1, Indictment, also exceipted in the appendix hereto, and Relator's Exhibit 7,
Judgment in a Criminal Case, also excerpted in the appendix hereto.
' U.S. v. Warshak et. al, No. 06-CR-O111 (S.D. Ohio May 13, 2008) (Opinion and Order)



was in the process of detennining Berkley's ability to pay a proposed consent settlement.

(Findings at 3). Respondent served as a trustee for both trvsts and facilitated the transfer

of nearly $14 million to the tivst. (Findings at 3). Respondent was fotimd guilty of

obstructing proceedings before the FTC due to his involvement in the review, execution,

and funding of the hvst agreements. (Findings at 3).

The final felony conviction, obstn.icting proceedings beforc the FDA, is a result of

Respondent's involveinent in removing misbranded supplements from a warehouse in

advance of an FDA inspection. (Findings at 2-3). The FDA had scheduled a routine two-

day inspection. Respondent was responsible for giving the investigators access to the

company's facilities. (Findings at 2-3). Respondent learned that the warehouse would be

searched the next day. (Findings at 2-3). Respondent knew that misbranded supplements

were located in the warehouse, and instracted the warehouse workers to get rid of the

misbranded supplements. (Findings at 2-3). The misbranded suppleinents were removed

for the inspection, then retLu7ied to the property after the inspection was complete.

(Findings at 2-3).

Respondent was sentenced to one year aiid one day in federal prison, to be

followed by tln•ee years of supervised release, and was to forfeit to the United States

$44,876,781.68 in money laundeiing judgment forfeiture jointly and severally with two

eo-defendants. (Relator's Exhibit 7, Judgment in a Crirninal Case).

Respondent filed a Motion for Judginent of Acquittal, which the court denied,

noting that there was "adequate evidence for the jury to conclude that [Respondent]

agreed with others to hide the [inisbranded supplement] and ordered it to be moved."

(Relator's Exhibit 6 at 26). The court further held that:
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the jury rationally concluded that [Respondent] knew about the nature of
Berkley's business, and that the proceeds going into the trust carne from unlawful
activity. [One witness'] testimony concetning [Respondent informing him that
there was a] `window of oppor-hmity' leaves no doubt about evidence regarding
[Respondent's] intent to put the assets out of reach of the Federal Trade
Commission. The jury rationally concluded that [Respondent] intended to malce
the assets more difficult to trace to the original source.

(Exhibit 6 at 22-23)

Respondent chose not to appeal his conviction or sentence. (Findings at 4).

As a result of these convictions, Respondent's law license was plaoed on interim

suspension on December 14, 2009, shortly after the Board received a certified copy of the

felony conviction. (Findings at 7).

At the bearing, Respondent admitted all five violations of the Ohio Rules of

Professional Conduct alleged by Relator in the Complaint, and later stipulated to the First

Arnended Complaint setting forth the specific rules violations in the alternative under

both the Ohio Rules of Pt-ofessional Conduct and its predeccssor, the Ohio Code of

Professional Responsibility. (Hearing transcript, May 22, 2009, at 170; see also Joint

Motion for Agreed Order and First Amended Complaint.)3 At the conclusion of the

hearing, Relator recommended a sanction of permanent disbannent. Respondent

requested a two-year suspension, with the second year stayed, to be retroactively

effective as of Septernber 2, 2008.

The Board found aggravating factors of acting with a dishonest or selfish motive

and multiple offenses. (Findings at 7). The Board found as mitigating factors the fact that

3 The five Code/Rules violations to which Respondent admitted are: (1) DR 7-102(A)(7) and/or Rule 1.2(d)
(representing a client within the bounds of the lawlscope of representation and allocation of authority); (2)
DR 7-102(A)(8), 7-109(A) and/or Rule 3.4 (representing a client withiu the bounds of the Iawlfairness to
opposing party and counsel); (3) DR 1-142(A)(3) and/or Rule 8.4(b) (coirunitting illegal acts that refteet
adversely on the tawyer's honesty or tiustwortliiness); (4) DR 1-102(A)(4) aud/or Rule 8.4(c) (engaging in
conduct involving dishonesty and deceit); and (5) DR 1-102(A)(5) and/or Ru1e 8.4(d) (engaging in eondnet

that is prejudicial to the administration of justice).
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Respondent had no prior disciplinary record, cooperated in disciplinary proceedings,

accepted responsibility for his actions, and expressed renlorse. (Findings at 7). The Board

also inentioned Respondent's diagnosis of hairy cell leulcemia. (Findings at 6).

The Board recommended a suspension of two years, with 6 montlis stayed, to be

applied retroactively to 7anuary 15, 2009. (Findings at 7-8).
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ARGUI@REN'T

PROPOSTTYON OF LAW

RESPONDENT WAS CONVICTED AT TRIAL OF SIX FEDERAL FELONIES: TWO
COUN'TS OF MONEY LAUNDERING, TWO COIJNTS OF CONSPIRACY TO
COMMIT MONEY LAUNDEREVG, ONE COUNT OF CONSPlRACY TO
OBSTRIJCT PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
AND ONE COUNT OF CONSPIRACY TO OBSTRUCT PROCEEDINGS BEFORE
THE FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION. THIS COURT HAS REPEATEDLY
HELD THAT FELONY CONVICTIONS, ESPECIALLY THOSE INVOLVING
MONEY LAUNDERING, WARRANT DISBARMENT. RELATOR ASKS THIS
COURT TO IMPOSE PERMANENT DISBARMENT ON THE RESPONDENT
RATHER THAN THE LESSER PENALTY RECOMMENDED BY THE BOARD OF
COMMISSIONERS.

Disbannent is Appropriate

"When imposing sanctions for attoiney misconduct, we consider the duties

violated, the actaal or potential injury cai.ised, the attorney's mental state and sanetions

imposed in similar cases." Toledo Bar Ass'fa v. Coolc, 114 Ohio St. 3d 108, 2007-Ohio-

3253, at 9139•

'I'he ABA Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions §5.1 state that "Disbarinent

is generally appropriate when: (a) a lawyei- engages in serious criminal conduct, a

necessary element ofwhich includes ...fraud, extortion, misappropriation, or theft..."

Ohio disciplinary opinions reference these standards. See Toledo Bar, Ass•'rz. v. Cook, at 9(

41.

Respondent herein was found guilty of six federal felonies and admitted to having

violated all five disciplinary ruies charged by Relator. Relator respectfully submits that

Respondent's misconduct warrants a more severe penalty than that recommended by the
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Board. The Board's recommendation would allow Respondent's immediate reinstateinent

to the pi-actice of law in Ohio following tlae resolution of this proceeding.

This Cotiat has held that a felony conviction for money laundering warrants

permarent disbannent. Office ofDisciplinary Counsel »..Zones, 66 Ohio St. 3d 74, 1993-

Oliio-101. The respondent in .Innes was convicted of money laundering for failhig to

report monetary transactions and stiucturing hansactions to evade reporting requirements

and received a 15 month jail sentence, probation and a fine. Id. at 74. The respondent,

like Respondent in the instant matter, presented a number of witnesses to attest to his

character. The Board found the respondent guilty of violating bofli DR 1-102(A)(3) and

(4) and recoimnended an indofinite suspension with no credit for tinie served. Id. at 74-

75. The Court refused to adopt the recommendation of the Board, stating that a

conviction of this kind watrants a more severe penalty, disbannent. Id. at 75.

In a similar case, the Court held that "such conduct speaks for itself. Disbar7nent

is the only appropriate sanction". Office ofDisciplin.ary Counsel i'. Williams, 66 Ohio St.

3d 71, 1993-Ohio-100. (1993). That respondent was convicted on two criminal cow7ts

based on his actions in conspiring to launder money from the proceedings of illegal drug

sales. Id. at 72. He was eonvicted of failure to report monetary transactions; stn.icturin.g

trruisactions to evade repoi-ting requirements and aiding-and-abetting. Id. at 73. The

respondent was given a 10 month sentence, along with probation and a fine. Id. The

Board found the respondent guilty of violating both DR 1-102(A)(3) and (4) and

recommended indefinite suspension. Id. The panel focused on the government's

stipulation in the plea agreeinent that the respondent was the least culpable party in the

8



money laundering scheme. Id. The Cow-t found that disbarment was the "only appropriate

sanction" for this type of conduct and conviction. Id.

A lawyer who commits this type of illegal conduct violates the duty to maintain

personal honesty and integrity. Office of Disciplinary Courasel v. Bein, 105 Ohio St. 3d

62, 2004-Ohio-7012 at ¶ 13. The respondent in Bein pled guilty to two felonies:

conspiracy to engage in interstate comnieree of stolen property and money laiuldering by

selling stolen items. Id, at ^ 3. The respondent was sentenced to 6 months of house arrest

and 5 ycars of probation. Id. The panel unanimously found that the respondent had

violated DR 1-1-2(A)(3), (4), and (6), and recommended pennanent disbanuent. 'T'he

Court found that the respondent tried to downplay his role, acted with a selfish motive,

and caused significant ham1. Id. at 1 8. In upholding the Board's reconzmendation of

pennanent disbarment, the Court noted that attorneys have a"duty to maintain personal

honesty and integrity which is one of the most basic professional obligations owed by

lawyers to thc public" and that the legal profession "is and ought to be a high calling

dedicated to the service of clients and the public good." Id. at ¶ 13.

In Cincinnati BarAss'n v. Bcsnla, 94 Ohio St.3d 428, 2002-Ohio-1236, the C:ourt

again found an indefinite suspension to be too lenient of a sentence for a felony

conviction. The respondent was found guilty of interstate transportation of stolen lap-top

computcrs. Id. at 428. The relator recoznmended an indefinite suspension, but the Board,

fmding violations of DR 1-102(A)(3), (4), and (5), reeommended pennanent disbarment.

The Court agreed, saying "[We] are compelled to impose our most severe punislunent --

disbarment." Id. at 429.
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Lastly, the obvious impropriety of illegal conduct necessitates the strict sanetion.

Cincinnati Bar Ass'n. v. Schott, 10 Ohio St. 2d 117 (1967). The respondent was selling

securities without a license, a charge relatitig to his participation in a Ponzi scheme. Id. at

117-119. The Court again found pei-manent disbarment to be the proper sanction. Id. at

131.

Respondent's concluct herein was very similar to the cases outlined above. The

Court in Jorxes and Willianis stated that disbarinent was the only appropiiate sanction for

this type of conviction. Like the respondent in Willians, Respondent conspired to launder

and participated in the laundering of money through his review, exeeution and funding of

two trusts. Also like the Willianis respondent, Respondent was charged with, among other

things, violating DR 1-102(A)(3) and (4). Respondent received a greater jail sentence

than the respondent in Willians. Despite the fact that, in Willianss, the goveininont had

stipulated the respondent was the least culpable person, the Court disbarred the

respondent. While Respondent may have not been the most culpable person in the money

latmdering schenie, the govenunent did not stipulate to this fact in the instant matter, as it

did in Williarns. Respondent was found guilty at trial of six felonies and ultimately

admitted to having violated all five of the Professional Rules with which he was charged,

thus wan-anting disbarrnent.

Respondent's crimcs deceived the public and harmed the public through the loss

of their money -- Respondent facilitated the transfer of nearly $14 inillion to the trusts

with the "intent to put the assets out of reach of the Federal Trade Commission" and "to

make the assets more difficult to trace to the original source" (Relator's Exhibit 6 at 22)

and "participated in two money laundering conspiracies to hide the sou-ce of a portion of
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proceeds from a conspiracy that defrauded customers, [where] the gain to defendants was

in excess of $400 Million Dollars .... (Relator's Exhibit 8, Statement of Reasons at

V III).

All of the cases discussed above involve offenses dealing with causing monetary

hann to individuals through deception. All of the respondents were disbarred for their

conduct. There is no reason why Respondent should not be disbarred for IZis professional

misconduct. The Court has rejected a suggested sanction of indefinite suspension on

numerous occasions for this type of activity and where the loss to victims has been far

less.4 There is no precedent for the Court accepting an even lighter sanetion, specifically,

a two year suspension with six months stayed. This lenient punishment should not be

upheld by a Court that routinely disbars lawyers for equivalent eonduct.

Aggravation and Mid^ation

While this Court decides disciplinary rnatters on a case by case basis, the Court

has recognized that "other sirnilar disciplinary proceedings are lielpful in deterinsniing

sanctions" and, therefore, attempts to demonstrate that its decisions "comport with

sanctions...imposed in previous cases involving comparable ethical violations." Brown,

87 Ohio St.3d at 318. When considering an approptiate sanetions, the Court may also

take into account the aggravating and mitigating factors set forth in Section 10 of The

Rules and Regulations Governing Procedure on Cornplaints and Hearings Before the

° For cxample, the loss to victims in Banks was calculated to be in excess of $500,000 (Tillianes, 94 Ohio

St. at 429) and in S'hott, the loss to victims was over $657,000. (Shott, 10 Ohio St.2d at 134).
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Board of Commissioners on Grievances and Discipline of the Supreme Court (hereinafter

Rules and Regulations).

In aggravation, the Board found that Respondent acted with a dishonest or selfish

motive. They also found that there were multiple offenses of misconduct.

In mitigation, the Board found Respondent had no prior disciplinary record, was

cooperative in the proceedings, took responsibility for his actions and expressed remorse.

However, Respondent has not fully admitted the extent of his involvenlent in the crime

he was convicted of. At hearing, Respondent testified that" Greg said `I told Paul about

the misbranded Rovicid and he said get rid of it,' which could be possible, but I don't

specifically remember ever making that cormnent, but I definitely would have never told

someone to hide it." (Heariug Transcript, May 22, 2009, at 41; See also Findings at 3).

At Respondent's criminal sentencing, he was not given the two-level deduction in

his final score for acceptance of responsibility. Respondent did not receive this deduction

because he did not provide a staternent to the parole officer accepting responsibility.

(Hearing "Transcript, May 22, 2009 at 97-98.)

Respondent, in his Brief in Support of Rccommendations of the Board, argues

that Respondent's convrictions come from two "distinct and discreet" events, the FDA

inspection and the fiinding of the trusts. (Respondent's Brief at 2). Respondent assei-ts

that he was never charged in comiection with the fi-audulent "auto-ship" progi-ani.

(Respondent's Brief at 2). However, Respondent cannot separate his criminal conduct

from the fraudulent sclieine perpetuated by Borldcy. As noted by the Court in its

Statcment of Reasons justifying the sentence,

[Respondent] acted as in house counsel at Berlcelcy PrerniLan
Nutraceuticals. In that capacity, he paiticipated in two money

12



laundering conspiracies to hide the source of a portion of proceeds
from a conspiracy that defrauded customers, and the gain to
defendants was in excess of $400 Million Dollars, since the loss to
customers camlot be reasonably detennined. He also tried to
obstruct the investigations of two federal agencies. IRespondent]
comes from an intact, stable fainily. By all accounts, he is [an]
excellcnt family man. It is disconcerting that he ehose to help his
frateniity brother and employer launder the proceeds of fraud
because the defendant llad so much to lose. It should have beeu
clear to hiin the consequences of criminal activity.

(Exhibit 8, Statement of Reasons at VIII (einphasis added)).

By continuing to attempt to minimize his culpability, Respondent is clearly not aeeepting

responsibility for his misconduct.

The Board references a number of witnesses who testified as to Respondent's

character despite his criminal convictions. In Jones, the respondent also presented a

number of character witnesses on his behalf. Despite the respondent's apparent good

character, the Court iinposed this strictest sanction on that respondent.

The Board seems to focus on Respondent's unfortunate battle with cancer as a

mitigating factor in the recommendation. However, the only medicat factors listed in

Section 10 of the Rules and Regulations are mental illness and chenlical dcpendency. T1e

Board should not consider this illness as a mitigating factor, particularly insofar as

Respondent posits no cormection between his criminal conduct and his subsequent

physical illness.

'Mhilc Respondent does have a serious disease, it should not aCfect the sanction

imposed here. Respondent's medical condition apparently mitigated his jail sentence, as

his complex medical needs inay not have been readily addressed in prison whilc serving

his seztence. There is no similar reason to allow Respondent's attorney discipline to be
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dictated by his ilhless. Respondent's pattern of criniinal conduct has shown hiin unfit to

practice law, and the presence of a physical illness does not cliaiiae that fact.
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COiVC"LIISI®N

Relator strongly objects to the sanetion reconmiended by the Board as too lenicnt.

Respondent knowingly participated in two money laundering conspiracies to hide the

source of a portion of the proceeds firom a conspiracy tliat defrauded customers of over

$400,000,000.00, and tried to obstruct the investigations of two fedei-al agencies.

Respondent,

...by taking the oath as an attorney and accepting his certificate to
practice, has assumed a position of publie trust, holding himself
out to the public as fit and capable of handling its funds and
problems. He has assumed a position of responsibility to the law
itself, and any disregard thercof by hinl is much more lieinous than
that by the laynlan who may breach the law in all imiocence.

`To preserve its prestige and standing, the legal profession should
not and must not tolerate conduct on the parE of its members whieh
brings the profession as a whole into disrepute and invites public
condemnation.' [citation omitted].

(Shott, 10 Ohio St.2d at 131).

This Coi.u-t has repeatedly held that even an indefinite suspension is too lenient a

ptnlislunent for felony convictions of this magnitude. Acc.oi-dingly, Respondent should be

disbarred.

Respectfully submitted,

\')1``' i I^; ^. •y ^.^st
Peter Rosenwald, Esq. (40008197)
Counsel for Relator
The Citadel Building
114 East Eighth St.
Cinciimati, OH 45202
(513) 621-2257

CINCINNA7`I BAR ASSOCIATION

VA
Susar, R. Bell, Esq. (#006
Co-Counsel for Relator
537 East Pete Rose Way
Suite #400
Cincinnati. Obio 45202
(513) 852-8200
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing Relator's Objections and Brief in
Support was mailed by First Class United States mail, postage prepaid, to David W.
Greer, Counsel for Respondent, 400 National City Center, 6 Nort'h Main St., Dayton, OII
45402; Janies P. Fleisher, Co-Counsel for Respondent, 400 National City Center, 6
North Main St., Dayton, OH 45402; atid Jonathan W. Marshall, Secretary, Board of
Cominissioners on Grievances aiid Discipline of the Supreme Court of Ohio, 65 S. Front
St., 5`i' Floor, Columbus, OI-I 43215 on this 27th day of January, 2010.

Edwin W. Patterson III (#0019701)
General Counsel
Cincimiati Bar Association
225 East Sixth St., 2°a Floor
Cincinnati, OH 45202
(513) 699-1403
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BEFORE T'HE BOARD OF COMMISSI(?IdERS
ON

GRIEVANCES AND DISCIPLINE
OF

THE SUPREME COUI2T' (3Ia OHIO

In Re:

Complaint against

Paul Joseph Kellogg
Attortrey Reg. No. 0062303

)

IaesponF3ent
a

Cineinnati Bar Assoc hition

Relatoai
u

Case No. 08-092

Findings of Fact,
Conclusions of Law aticl
Reeommendation of the
I3oarcl of Commissioners on
Grievances and Discipline of
the Snpreme Conrt of Ohio

This matter was heard May 21, 2009, in Cincinnati, Ohio and on May 22, 2009, at the

Ashiand Federal Correctional Institute in Ashland, ICentucky. 1'lre panel consisted of Judge Beth

Wlliirnore oPAlcron, Alvin R. Bell of Findlay, and Nancy D. lvloore, Chair, oFColumbus, Ohio.

None of the panel members is a resident of the district from which the complaint originated or a

nien7ber of the probable cause panel that certifiied this matt.er to the Board.

Susan R. Bell a.nd Peter Roseirwald represented Relator, Cinainnati Bar Assoeiation.

Respondent, Panl Joseph 1Cellogg, was present only on May 22, 2009, birt was represented by

James Fleisher both days.

FINDINGS OF F'AC:T'

Rcspondent graduated from the University of Dayton Law Sehool and was admitted to

the practicc of law by the Supreme Court of Ohio in November 1993. In 2003, Respondent was

working at a Cincinnati firm handling primarily cstate plaaming ancl small bi3siness matters.
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One day in 2003 Respondent received a call from a childhood friend and fraternity

brother, Ste:ve Warshak, .a,nd met him for lunch to catch up on each other's lives, Warshak was

the owner of a quickly growing supplement cotnpany, and complained that while he enjoyed the

maa•keting aspect of managing his company, he disliked dealing with legal issues and attorneys.

Respondent suggested that V3arshak hire General Counsel for his conlpany.

About tv,>o weeks later Respondent got an e-mail from V+'arshak offcring hinl the position

of General Counsel for his company. The offer included a generous salary and full benefits.

Afier a few weeks of evaluatiug his options, Respondent accepted the position and began

working for Berkeley Premittm Nutraceuticals [Berlceley]. I At that time I3crkeley employed

about 1500 people.

Respondent's workload was light until late in 2003, when Berlcelay was notified that they

were being investigated by the Pederal Trade Commission. Respondent was responsible for

providing all docurnents and information requested by the FTC. Shortly thereafter, seventeen

state attorney generals also began an investigation of 13erketey based upon nurnerous consumer

z
complaints. In March 2004 the first of six class action lawsuits was filed against Bcrkcle.y.

On May 13, 2004, representatives from the Food and Drug Administration came to

conduct an imrncdiake inspection at Berkeley. Respondent was given the responsibility for

giving the investigators access to the conipany's facilities. One facility (the call center) was to

he inspected that day and their -warehouse facility was to be inspected the following day.

5hortly after being informecf of the impending inspection, Responden.t saw the operations

manager of the company and told him that the warehouse would be inspectect the following day.

luhen Respondent began his employment there, Berkeley was still operating under thc namcs of tiie three
companies whic.h later combined to forrn 13erkeley.
1 The priauary focns of the investigations and complaints was the Berkeiey continttit,v program. After receiving a
"free sample° ef the snppteancnts, monthly shipn ents were automatically settt to custatners and billed to the
customer's creclit card. Consuniers found it difficult or impossible to cancel the shipments and get refunds.

9
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Respondent admits that he told the nianager to "make sure the warehouae is in order" for the

inspection.'' Respondent admitted that testimony at the critninal trial indicated that lrc was

infotnled about some misbranded supplement in the warehouse, and as a result Respondent

instructed others to "gct rid of' the nrishraided supplement: t Respondent indicated that it was

possible that he told sotneone i.o "get rid of it,'° but that he would never have instructed workers

to simply hide the misbranded supplement.

As an result oP Respo ident's vvarning regard,irtg the impending warehouse inspection, a

night warehouse manager had workers loacl all of the misbranded supplement iuto a truck and

remove it fiom the warehouse. The supplement was then returned to the warehouse afYer the

FDA inspeetion was eornpleted.

In September 2004, as the investigatiotis into Berkeley's activities increased, Warshak's

fina icial planner encouraged Warshak do some estate plam.iing to protect assets. Outside

counsel prepared documents and coun.seled Warshak on the trusts that needed to be established

for'tx,'arshak's wife and children. Outside counsel also recommended how much inoney should

be trarxsferred to the trusts. At one point Rcspondent was asked to review the trust paperwork to

be sure it was compliant with Ohio law, wlrich he did.

Warshak eventuaffy transferred $13 fnillion to a trust iir his wifc and $1 million to a trust

for his ohildretl. Respondent served as trustec for both trasts. The establishment and funding of

the ttlzsts by Warshak effectively hid the proceeds of the conspiracy to deprive and deLraud

co31sruners.

On February 22, 2008, as a result of Respondent's involvetnent in the renloval of tlre

supplemcnt from the warehouse, Respondent was convicted by a jury ofConspiracy t.o Ohstruct

' May 22, 2009 hearing trnnscript, Page A.
May 22, 2009 bearing transci-ipt, page 41

3

App. 3



Proceedings beliyre the lI.S. Food and 13ivg Administratioai. Respondent was acquitted of two

counts involving the actual misbranding of the supplement.

As a result of his involveanent in the review, execution and funding o C the trust

agreements, Respondent was convicted ofCwo counis o€Nloncy Laundering and one count ot'

Conspiracy to Obstruct Proceedings before the Fecleral "1'rade Cominission in U.S. District Court

for the Southcrn District of Ohio. Ile was acquitted of one count of making a false statement to a

bank. Additionally, R.espondent was convicted of two counts of Conspiracy to Commit Money

Laundering for his role in the continuity program where supplements were automatieally shipped

to customers.

Despite gaidelines recomtnending a sentenc-e of nearly twenty years, on August 29, 2008,

T'.espondent was sentenced to one year and one day inPederal prison. ITe began serving his

sentence on .lanuary 15, 2009, Respondent qualified for a fifteen percent reduction in his

sentence and had bee.n informed that he would be released to a halfway house on August 31,

2009, and that his reniaining sentence would then actually expire on November 29, 2009.

Respondent is subject to a tl-irce year period of supervision once released froin incarceration.

12.esponctent chose not to appeal his conviction or scntenee. The Board received a certified copy

of Respondent's felony conviction from the Relator in mid-November 2009. The Supreme Cour-C

suspended Respondent on an interinl basis on llecember 14, 2009.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

At bearing the issue of whether the Disciplinary Rules or the Rules of Professional

Conduct applied in this c:ase was raised. Respoiident's misconduct occurred prior to the change

in the rules on February 1, 2007, but the convictions actually occurxed aftcr the change in the

rules. As a precaution, tl3e parties subseque.ntly agreed to ati amendment of'the complaint, which
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was approved by tl7e panel, to include alleged violations of both the Code of Profc;ssional

Responsibility and the Rules of Professional Conduct.

Respondent wa.s chargcd in the First A;rxended Compaint vvitlt the following rule

violations:

DR 7-102(A)(7) A lawyet shall not counsel or assist his client in conduct that

the lawyer lcnows to be illegal or fraudulent.

Prof. Cond. R. 1.2(d) A lawyer sball not counsel oi- assist his clicnt in conduct that

the lavvyer knows to be illcgal or fraudulent.

DR 7-102(A)(8) A lawyer shall not Irnowingly engage in othcr illcgal conduct.

DR 7-I pg(A) A lawyer sbal,l not suppress any evidence that lie or his client

has a legal obligation to reveal or prciduce.

Prof'. Concl. 12. 3.4(a) A lawyer sball not unlawfulty obstrnct another party's access

to eviclenee.

DR 1-102(A)(3) Illegal conduct involving moral turpitude.

Prof. Cond. R. 8.4(b) Illegal act that reflects adversely on the lawycr's honesty or

trustworthiness.

DR 1-102(A)(4) Conduet involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or

misrepresentation.

Prof. Cond. R. 8.4(c) Corzduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

DR 1-102(A)(5) Condact prejudicial to the administration of justice.

Pro£ Cond. R. 8.4(d) Conduct prejudicial to the administration ofjustice.

5
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Based upon the evidence, tlie Panel finds that Respondeni.'s conduct., by clcar and

convincing evidence, violated the f'ollowing rules: DR 7-102(A)(7); llR 7-107(A)(8); DR 7-

109(A); DR 1-102(A)(3); DR 1-102(.A)(4); and DR 1-102(A)(5).

Additionally, the Panel fincis that the following rules were not violated since all

misconduct occurred prior to February 1, 2007, when the Rules of Professional Conduct became

effectivc: Prof. Cond. R. I.2(d); Prof. Cond. R. 34(a); Prof, Cond. R, q.4(b); Prof. Cond. R,

8.4(c); and Prof. Cond. R. S.4(d).

1l7I"1'IGATTfiN AND AGGRAVATION

Respondent is married and the father of tlu-ee young children. 13eginning in Septernhcr of

2004, Respondent began to notice a taclc of energy. After his vision became ai'fected,

Respondent sought medical attention, and in October of 2004 was diagnosed wit11 hairy cell

leukemia. At that point Respondent took a leave of abscnee from F3erkeley until after

Thanksgiving when lie had completed chemotherapy. By January 2005 Respondent's leuke.mia

was i.n rernission,

Llnfortunately Respondent's leuketni.a returned in the sunimer of 2008, and hc required

an additional course of chemotherapy shortly before his sentencing hearing in Federal Court.

However, atthe time of the panel hearing, Respondent believed tlrErt liis leukenlia was in

remission.

Respondent irnnediately ceased practicing law upon being sentenced in Septeznber of

2008, and has been cooperative with authorities sinee his conviction. Respondent was allowed to

continue to work at Berkeley for a period of tinre i'ollowing his indictment and conviction,

assisting the bankruptcy trustee.in his effoi ts. Respondent believes that he has learned from his

rnistakes, and would be an assct to the legal proiession if allowed to practice law in the future.

6
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'f he Panel finds that Respondent has no prior disciplinary record, lias been cooperative in

the disciplinary proceedings, and has made soin.e eff'orts to rectify the consequences of his

misconduct. Additionally,l2espoaident has accepted responsibility for his act'ions, has expressed

remoxse, and has otherwisc; been penalized for hus misconduct. Witnesses testified that

IZespondent is a man of good characte.r and reputation, despite his criminal convictions.

The Panel fiuther finds that Respondent did act with a dishonest or seltish motive,

although Respondent apparently did not benefit financially tiom his actions. The Panel also

finds Respondent committed multiple ofi-enscs ofmisconduct.

PAl°IRI. RECOMMENDATION

Rela.tor recomniendecl a sanction of permanent disbarment from the practice of law.

Respondent rsquested a two-year suspension, v,rith the second year stayed upon the condition that

he comply with all reyuirennents of his supervised release. Responderit fiirther requests that his

suspension be retroactively effective as of September 2, 2008.

It is the recominendation of the Panel that Respondent be suspended fronl the practice of

law for a period of two years, with the final six months of the suspension staycd upon the

condition that he comply with the requirements of his supervised release. 'I'he Panel fui-ther

re.conunends that the suspension begin retroactive to 7anuary 15, 2009, when Respondent began

serving his prison sentence.

BOARD T2.ECC3R'FA^tRNDATIf9N

Pursuant to Gov, Bar Rule V(6)(L), the Board of Conimissioners on Grievances and

Discipline of the Supreme Court of Ohio considered this matter on December 4, 2009. The

Board adopted the Pindings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Recommendation of the Panel and

recoinmends that the Respondent, Paul Josepli Kellogg, be suspended on the panel's c-onditions

7
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for a period of two years with six months stayed, with the suspension to hegin to run January 15,

2009. The Boarcl further reconmends that the cost of these proceedings be taixec( to the

Respondent in aiiy disciplinary order entered, so that execution may issile.

Pursuant to tire order of the Board of Commissioners on
Grievances and I7isc.ipliue of the Strpr•eme Court of Ohio,
I hereby certify the foregoiug Findings of Fact, Conclusions
ofLavv, and Recommendation as t.hose of th_!^Ayard.

`^ ^_-^^^
J I^TA'I'1;YA i^, MARSRAI L, Secretar9
I3oard otConjmissioners on
Grievances aird Discipline of
the Supreme Cour[ of Ohio

R
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BEFORE THE BOARD OF COnDIISSIOl`IEI2S ON
GI2I;i',VANCES AND DISCIPLINE OF
THE SUPREI4IE COURT OF OFIIO

Tn Re:

Cornplaint Against

I'AL1JG JOSEPII KELLOGG,

Respondent,

CINCINNATI 13AR ASSOCIATION,

Relator.

No. 08-092

STIPULATIONS

MAY 8 - ?009
r3C1Ftt;U OF C[7MPdISSIQNcRS

ON GfilEVAhlCES & DfSi;IhLINE

1. Respondent Paul J. Kellogg (Attonaey Registration No. 0062303), has been duly

adniitted to the practice of law in the State of Ohio in November, 1993.

2, Relator, tlu'ough its counsel, has presented to Itespondent and his counsel eight (8)

Exhibits for use at the I-Iearing before the Panel in this cause.

3. EachExhibitisanaecuratecopyofvariousdocuinentsfroznlJnitedStatesofAnneiiea

vs. Paul J. Keilo^gI;, Case No. 1:06-CR-0111(3) in the lkzited States District Court for the Southern

District of Ohio.

4. Paui Joseph Kellogg, Respondeait herein, is the Paul J, Kellogg as set forth in the

Exl7ibits.
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5. Relator's Exliibits shall be adnlissibte at the Hearing before the Panel (and for such

later proceedings as may be appropriate) without the need for testiinony as to authenticity or

accuracy.

Nfeither the Respondent nor the Govez-iurrent has filed an appeal, or any other post.-

conviction proeeeding, from the Jury Verdicts, Judgrnent Entry or Sentencing in the criminal case

and no appeal or post-conviction proceeding is presently pending.

Respectfully subtnitted,

Susa.n R. Bell (0069574)
Counsel for Relator
537 East Pete Rose Way
Suite 400
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202-3578
Phone: (513) 852-2585
Fax: (513) 852-8222

Aka---,.- -,,,
Peter Rosenwald
Counsel for Relator
114 East Eighth Street
Cinciiuiati, Ohio 45202
Phone:(513)b21-2257
Fax: (513) 621-2525

9574.205492 \ 347545.1

iser (00S9509)
©unsel for Respondent

13i eser, Greer & Landis, LLP
400 National City Center
Dayton, Ohio 45402-1908
Phone:(937)223-3277
Fax;(913) 223-6338
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Case 1:06-cr~ 00111-SAS Document 1 Filed 09120/2006 Page 1 of 43

UNITED STATES DIS'1'I2ICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO

WESTERN DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

PAUL J. KELLOGG (COUNTS 14, 30, 31, 96, 97, 109-112), [ 18 U.S.C. § 1014
CHARLES W. CLARKE, JR. (COUNT 1), 1 18 U:S.C. § 1341
STEVEN P. PUGH (COUNTS 109 - 111), 1 18 U.S.C. § 1344
AMAR'D. CHAVAN (COUNTS 1, 29), 1 18 U.S.C. § 1349
TCI IYIEDIA INC ( COUNTS 57=58 60-73 91-93) 179 83 18 U S C § 1 9^6, , , , , , . . . f
and 121 U.S.C. § 331
BERKELEY PREMIUM NUTRACEUTICALS, INC. 121 U.S.C. §;333
(COUNTS 1-13, 29, 110),

STEVEN E. WARSHAK (COUNTS 1-98, 102-106, 108-110,112), t I8 U.S.C. § 982 ®^(R
HARRIET WARSHAK (COUNTS 1, 27, 28, 30, 31, 99-101,107), I 19 U.S.C. § 1029 tj

The Grand Jury Charges:

COUNT' 1
CONSPIRACY TO COMMIT

MAIL, WTRE, AND BANK FRAUD

18 U.S.C. § 1349

1. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

A. The Defendants and Coconspirators

Defendant BERKELEY PREMIUM NUTRACEUTICALS, INC. (hereinafter refcrred

to as "BER.I<ELEY") is an Ohio Subchapter S corporation, wholly-oumed by defendant

INDICTMENT
18U.S.C.§2

118U.S.C.§371



Case 1:06-cr-00119-SAS Document'I Filed 09/2012006 Page 40 of 43

2. Between November 28, 2003, and December 2, 2003, pursuant to the direction of

defendant STEVEN E. WARSEiA.K, a conspirator and a Berkeley programmer created

false and unauthorized transactions by charging vazious consumers' credit cards S 1, and

then crediting those cards back S1, without any sale of any product relating to the Sl

charge to sueh consumers, in order to falsely inflate sales transactions so that Berkeley's

transaction numbers would increase, thereby lowering the chargeback ratio for November

2003 in order to maintain the merchant account with SVB.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1029(a)(5) and (b)(2).

COUNT 30
CONSPTktACY TO COMMIT MONEY LAIJNriERING

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)

A. THE MONEY T;AUNDERING CONSPIRACY AND ITS OBJECTS

Begirming in or before December 2003 andl continuing through at least July 22, 2005,

within the Southem District of Ohio and elsewhere, defendants STEVEN E. WARSHAK,

PAUL J. KELLOGG, and FIAIiBIET WAItSFiA1C, and other persons known and unknown to

the Grand Jury, did unlawfully, willfully; and knowirigly carim.bine, conspire, confederate, and

agree among themselves and with each other, to conduct or attempt to conduct financial

transactions which in fact involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity. The defendants

and conspirators did these acts with the knowledge that such property was derived from a

specifiedunlawful activity, that is, mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, wire fraud in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, and bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344, and :
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Case 1:06-cr-00 111 -SAS Document 1 Filed 09/2012006 Page 41 of 43

a. with the intent to promote the carrying on of said specified unlawful activity, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i); and

b, knowing that the transactions were designed in wbole or in part to conceal or

disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, in violation of 13 U.S.C. §

1956(a)(1)(B)(i)•

B. MANNER AND MEANS OF TI-IE COiYSPIRACY

The manner and means by which the defendants sought to accomplish the goats of their

conspiracy included, among others, the following:

1. As set forth more fully in Part III of Count 1, above, defendant STEVEN E.

WARSHAK, defendant 1dA.I2I2IET WA.I2>S3IAK, and others conspired to defraud

thousands of consumers and to defraud financial institutions, using the U.S. Mail and

wire communications, among other means, to execute the scheme. This fraud scheme

generated millions of dollars in proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, proceeds

of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, proceeds of wire frand in violation of 18

U.S_C_ § 1343, and proceeds of bank fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344..

2. Defendants STEVEN E. WA.RSIIAK, HARRIET WARSHAK, and PAi.iL..d.

KELLOGG established merchant agreements with various financial institutions to be

used for processing credit card purchases. Defendants used mercliant accounts of

financial institutions to obtain proceeds from victims of their fraud scheme.

3. Defendant STEVEN E. WARSIIAK received proceeds of consumer fraud, deposited

these proceeds into bank accounts at financial institutions, transferred millions of dollars
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Case 1:06-cr-00111-SAS Document 1 Filed 09/20/2006 Page 42 of 43

in fraud proceeds out of the operating accounts into many otlter accounts for the

following purposes, among others: 1) to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful

activity by reinvesting fraud proceeds into the illegal enterprise by paying advertising,

rent, salaries, and bonuses to managers and other BERKELEY employees, such as

defendants PAUL J. KELLOGG and HARRIET WARSHAT{; and 2) to coneeai or

disguise the nature and source of the proceeds of specified unlawfui activity through

frequent and complex movement of the proceeds and by transferring proceeds into the

names of third parties.

4. Defendant PAUL J. KELLOGG assisted the defendants and conspirators by, among

other things, causing fraud proceeds to be transferred out of the accounts of defendant

S'fl'E'JEN E. WA.ILSHAK and into other accounts:

5. Defendant HARRIET WARSHAK assisted the defendants and conspirators by, among

other things, causing fraud proceeds to be transferrefl out of the accounts ofdefend:utt

STEVEN E. WA12SIIAK and into other accounts.

C. OVERT AC1'S

In fiirtherartce of such conspiracy and to effect tbe objects of the eonspiracy, these

defendants committed overt acts in the Southem District of Oh.io and elsewhere including,

among others, the acts alleged in Counts 32-107, set forth below, which Counts 32-107 are

specifically incorporated herein.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1956(b).

Page 42 of 84
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Case 1:06-cr-00111-SAS Document 1 Filed 09/20/2006 Page 43 of 43

COUNT 31
CONSPIRACY TO CONL'VIIT 18 U.S.C. § 1957 hlONEY LAUNDEIZiNG

18 U.S.C. § 1956(h)

The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in Count 30 as_

though fnlly set forth herein.

A. THE MONEY LAUNDERING CONSPIRACY AND ITS OBJECTS

Beginning in or before December 2003 and continuing through at Icast July 22, 2005,

within the Southem District of Ohio and elsewhere, defendants STEVEN E. dvAI2S1-TA.If.,

PAULJ. KELLOGG, arid HARRIET NVAItS1IAK, and other persons known and unknown to

the Grand Jury did unlawfully, willfully, aind lrnowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and

agree among themselves and with each other, to engage or attentpt to engage in a monetary

transaction by, through, or to a finartcial institution, in the United States, in criminally derived

property of a value gTeater than $10.000.

B. MANNER AND MEANS OF THE CONSPIRACY

As described more fittly in Part B of Count 30, above, the defendants transferred funds by

wire and monetary instnnnent as set forth and in the amounts listed in Counts 32-107, such

property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud in violation of

18 U.S.C. § 1341, wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S:C. § 1343, and bank fraud in violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1344.

C. OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of such conspiracy and to effect the objects of the conspiracy, these

defendants committed overt acts in the Southem District of Ohio and elsewhere.including,

Page 43 of 84 .
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Case 1:06-cr-001 11 -SAS Document 1-2 Filed 09120l2006 Page 1 of 41

among others, the acts alleged in Counts 32 - 107, set forth below, which Counts 32-107 are

speeifically incorporated herein.

in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h).

COUNTS 32-107
MONEY LAUNDERING

18 U.S.C. § 1956
18 U.S.C. § 2

A. GENERAL ALLEGA'I'TONS

With respect to Counts 32-107t

1. On or about the dates set forth in Counts 32-107, in the Southern District of Ohio and

elsewhere, defendants STEVEi`I E. NVA,IiSHA1C, PAUI, J. KELLOGG, HARRIET

'iVARSIIAK, and TCI MEDIA, INC., and other persons known and unlcnown to the

Grand Jury, aiding and abetting each other, did knowirtgly conduct and attempt to

conduct the financial transactions by wire and monetary instrument set forth herein,

affecting interstate and foreign commeree, which involved the proceeds of specified

ttnlawful activity, that is, mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, wire &aud in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §1343, and bank fraud in violation of 18 U:S.C- § 1344, and:

a. with the intent to promote the canying on of such specified unlawful activity, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §1956(a)(1)(A)(i); and

b. knowing that the transactions were designed in whole or in part to conceal or

disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, or the control of the

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§1956(a)(1)(B)(i).

Page 44 of 84
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2. As set forth more fully in Part III of Count I, above, defendants STEVEN E.

WARSIiAK, HARRIET WARSTIAK, and others conspired to defraud thousands of

consumers and to defraud financial instinttions, using the U.S. Mail and wire

communications, among other means, to execute the scheme. This fraud scheme

generated millions of dollars in proceeds of specifted unlawful activity, that is, proceeds

of mail fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341, wire fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. §

1343, and bank fraud inviolation of 18 U.S.C. § 1344.

3. Defendants STEVEN E. WA.I2SHAK, TIARI2TET WAFLSFXAK, and PAUL J.

KELLOGG established merchant agreements with various financial institutions to be

used for processing credit card purchases. Defendants used merchant accounts of

financial institu¢ions to obtain proceeds from victims of their fraud scheme.

Defendant STEVEN E. WARSHAK received proceeds of consumer fraud, deposited

these proceeds into bank accounts at financial institutions, transferred niillions of dollars

in fraud proceeds out of the operating accounts into many other accounts for the

following purposes, among others: 1) to promote the carrying on of specified tmlawfiil

activity by reinvesting fraud proceeds into the illegal ertterprise by paying advertising,

rent, salaries, and bonuses to managers and othcr BUI2KELEX employees, such as

defendants PAUL J.ICELLOGG and FI +.itRIET WARSHAK; and 2) to conceal or

disguise the nature and source of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity tbrough

frequent and complex movement of the proceeds or by trarisferring proceeds into the

names of third parties.
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5. Defendant PAUI. J. KELLOGG, HARRIET WARSHAK, and TCI NIN:DIA, INC.,

assisted the defendants and conspirators by, among other things, causing fraud proceeds

to be transferred out of the accounts of defendant STEVEN E. WARSHAK and into

other accounts.

6. Defendant STEVI:N E. WARSHAK is charged in Counts 77-80, 82, and 98 with a

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(A)(i).

7. Defendant STEVEN E. WARSIiAK is charged in Counts 32-76, 81, 83-97, and 102-106

with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i):

8. Defendant IIA12I2IET WARSHAK is charged in Counts 99-101, 107 tivitb a violation of

18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i)-

9. Defendant PAUL J. KELLOGG is charged in Counts 96-97 with a violation of 18

U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(8)(i)-

10. Defendant TCI MEDIA, INC. is charged in Counts 57-58, 60-73, 79, 83, 91-93 with a

violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i).

B. RELEVANT T'INANCIAL ACCOUNTS AND TRANSACTIONS

With respect to Counts 32-107:

1. Financial institutions with which STEVEN E. WARSHAK'S eompanies held credit card

merchant accounts wired revenue into bank accounts owned by STEVEN E.

WARSHAK and located at Fifth Third Bank, Cincinnati, Ohio. Duririg the conspiracy,

merchant banks wired sale proceeds into STEVEN E. WARSkIAK'S and

BERKELEY'S bank accounts, including but not limited to, Fifth Third Bank accaurtts,

sacb as Lifekey, Inc. account number 3146; Boland Naturals account number
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"TTEE" means trustee; and "U/A" means undcr agreement): This QTIP account was

funded with transfers of stocks and/or bonds valued at approximately 3 t3,194,878.16.

21. In addition, Warshak transferred approximately $ 1,000,000.00 out of EIM 133 and

into a gift trust (account no. JEW68O. in the name of Pau17. Kellogr, TTfiE, The

Warshak 2004 Gi8 Trust U/A 10/1/04)_

22. As set forth in the chart below, in Counts 96 through 97, inclusive, defendants STEVEN

E. WARSHAK and PAUL S. KELLOGG transferred or caused to be transferred

$1,000,000.00 from accounY MOM] into account 7680 and approximately

$13,194,878.16 in stocks/bonds from account 4133 to account 7671.

23. On or about November 23,2004, WARSHAK'S financial advisor and coconspirator told

defendant STEVEN E. WARSI7 AK that the trust was, in fact, established for lit:igation

purposes, i.e., to hide and otherwise conceaI the fnnds frorn the FTC. WARSHAK'S

financial advisor assured STEVEN E. WARSI3AK that the fands were put beyond the

reach of the FTC under the guise of an estate planning strategy. WAI2SI3ATC'S fittattcial

advisor also told defendant STEVEN E. WA.T2.SFTAIS that defendant KELLOGG, as the

trustee, could transfer the funds back into defendant WARSI3AIC'S name after the

conclusion of the FTC litigation_

Count Date of
Trust

Deposit to
Account No.

Amount of
Deposit

Transfer from
Account P7o.

Account Name

96 10/01/04 7680 $1,000,000.00 IjW133 Warshak investment

97 10/01/04 7671 S13,194,878.16 133 Warshak investment

TOTAL S14,194,878.16
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2. From about February 2004 until sometime in March 2005, in the Southem District of

Ohio and elsewliere, defendants STEVEN E. iVAIZSHAK, PAUL J. KELLOGG,

S7'EVF,N P. PUGH and BERKELEY, did, with the intent to defraud and mislead, cause

foods and dietary supplemcnts to become misbranded within the meaning of 21 U.S.C.

§343(a)(1), and aided and abetted each other in doing so, in that these defendants caused

Rovicid, a food and dietary supplement, to contain false or misleading labeling that did

not accurately reflect the product's ingredients, and these defendants did so while the

food and dietary supplement was held for sale.

In violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 331 and 333, and 18 U.S.C. § 2.

COUNT I12
CO1dSPIRACY TO OIiST'.RIICT PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE

U.S. F.OOD AND DRUG ADMIMSTRATION
18U.S.C.§371

A. CONSPTRACY TO OBSTRUCT AND ITS OBdI:CTS

l. The Grand Jury realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in Count 109 as

though fully set forth herein.

2: Beginning on or before May 13, 2004, and continuing until the date of this Indictment, in

the Soutliern District of Ohio and elsewhere, defendants PAUL J. KELLOGG, and

STEVEN P. PUGH, knowingly and willfully conspired and agreed together and with

each other, and with otber persons both known and unknown to the Grand 7ury, to

eommit an offense against the United States, that is, to conuptly influence, obstruct,

inipede, and endeavor to influence, obstruct, and impede the due and proper

administration of law under which a proceeding was being had before the United States
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Food and Dntg Administration ("FDA'), an agency of the Ilnited States, that is, the

inspection of the premises of BERI£ELEY, including a warehouse facility operated by

BERKELEY at 5462 Duff Drive, Cincinnati, Ohio, and aided and abetted each other in

doing so, by removing from the warehouse, hiding; and otherwise concealing and

attempting to conceal and directing others to remove, hide and otherwise conceal from

the FDA inspectors, a substantial quantity of the product Rovicid, a product sold by

BERKET.EY, in violation of I8 U.S.C. § 1505.

B. OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of such conspiracy and to effect the objects of the conspiracy, one or more

of these defendants committed one or more overt acts, including, but not limited to, ttre:

following:

1. On or about ivlay 14, 2004, after learning that the U.S. Food and Drug Adniinistration

intended to conduct an inspection of BEItTCELEY products housed in BERICELEY'S

warehouse facilities, including the warehouse on 5462 Duff Drive in Cincinnati, Ohio,

defendant PAUL J. KELLOGG instructed a conspirator to tell defendant STEVEIY P.

PUGH to remove from the warehouse the misbranded Rovicid, that is, the °old" Rovicid

previously marketed and labeled for prostate health which had been placed into packages

with labeling for use of the product for heart health, in order to hide and conceal the

misbranded Rovicid Hom the FDA inspectors.

2. Later on or about May 14, 2004, pursuant to defendant KELLOGG'S direction,

defendant PUGH ordered the second-shift warehouse manager to have the misbranded

Rovicid and excess packaging moved out of the warehouse and loaded onto a rental truck
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which was being used at that time by BERKELEY to transfer products between

warehouse locations.

3. Later on or about May 14, 2004, pursuant to defendant PUGH'S instruction, the second-

shifl warehouse employees retuoved the misbranded Rovicid from the warehouse and

loaded onto the rental truck, completing the loading the next morning, before the FDA

inspectors arrived at the Duff warehouse.

4. On or about lY1ay 15, 2004, defendant PUGH instmeted a Duff wareltouse employee to

move the rental truck loaded with the misbranded Rovicid &om the Duff warehouse to

the parking lot of another l3ERKELEY office location_

5. On or about-May 18, 2004; after the FDA inspectors had concluded the Duff warehouse

inspection, a conspirator directed ihe same Duff warehouse employee to go to the offsite

location to pick up the rental truck, drive it back to the Duff warehouse, and restock the

misbranded Rovicid into the warehouse for continued sale.

In violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371,

COU:VT112
CONSPIRACY TO OBSTI2UC'X' PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE

U.S. FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION
28 U.S.C. § 371

A. CONSPIRA.CY TO OBSTRUCT AND ITS OB.TECTS

From about September 2004 and continuing until. the date of this Indictment, the exact

dates being unknown to the United States, defendants STEVEN E. WARSHAK and PAUL J.

ICELLOGG knowingly and willfiilly conspired and agreed together and with each other and with

other persons both known and unlmown to the Grand Jury, to commit an offense against the
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United States, that is, to corruptly influence, obstruct, impede, and endeavor to influence,

obstruct, and impede the due and proper administration of law under which a proceeding was

being had before the United States Federal Trade Commission ("Fl'C"), an agency of the United

States, that is, an investigation into false claims and advertising, unauthorized billing and

shipping, and other unfair trade practices in connection with the marketing and sale of eertauz

products by BERKELEY, located in the Southern District of Ohio in Cincinnati, Ohio, in that

defendants PAUL J. 1£E1.Lf)GG, STEVEN E. WARSHAK, and other persons both kttown

and unknown to the Grand Jury, transferred funds out of an account held by and uncter the

ownership and control of defendant STEVEN E. WAI2SFIAK, and transferred such fitnds into a

trust fitndaccount in the name of defendant WABSIiA.K'S spouse, purportedly established for

estate piantring, but in actuality for the purpose of hiding and otherwise concealing and

attempting to conceal such funds from, the FTC, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1505.

B. OVERT ACTS

In furtherance of such conspiracy and to effect the objects of'the conspiracy, one or more

of these defendants committed one or more overt acts, incIuding, but not Iimited to, the

following:

1. In June 2004, defendant STEVEN E. WARSHAK was aware that he and his companies

were being investigated by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) for fraudulent business

practices. Therea#ter, defendant S'A'EVEN E. WAF2SFZAK, defendant PAUL J.

KELLOGG, and others began considering investment strategies to remove assets out of

the name of Defendant STE_Vk;N E. WARSIIAK to protect assets from the anticipated

FTC litigation and fines. Defendant WARSH AK, and others known and unknown to the
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Grand Jury, decided that ttte use of trusts under the guise of estate planning would

successfully hide WAIZSIIAK'S money from the FTC.

2. Defendant KELLOGG told a conspiratnr that STEV7vN E. WARSHAK was not

personally named by the FTC as a liable party and that there was a"window of

oppottunit}" in which they coald get themoney out of WAItSHAK'S narne and into the

nanie of defendant WAI2SIIAK'S wife.

3. On or about October 1, 2004, STEVEN E. WAi2SIlAK, with the assistance of defendant

PAL11..I. KELLOGG and WARSHAK'S financial advisor, created a QTIP trust,

accoupt no. BJS-017671 in the name of Paul J. Kellogg TTBE, The Carri E. Warshak

2004 QTIP Trust U/A I0f1/04 ("QTIP" means.qualified terminabie interest property;

°`TTEE" means trustee; and "U/A" means under agz-eement). This QTIP account was

funded with transfers of stocks and/or bonds valued at approximately $13,194,878.16.

4. In addition, WARSHAK transferred approximately $1,000,000.00 out of BJS-014133

and into a gift trust (account no- BJS-017680 in the name of Paul J. Kellogg TTEE, The

Warshak 2004 Gift Trust U/A 1011104).

Iu violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION
SPECIFIED LINLAWFUI, ACTIVITY PROCEEDS

The Grand Jury further finds probable cause to believe that upon conviction of one or

more of the offenses alleged in Count 1(Conspiracy to Commit Mail, Wire and Bank Fraud);

Counts 2- 13 (Mail Fraud); Counts 15, 23, and 27 (Bank Fraud); and Count 29 (Access Device

Fraud) of this Indictment, defendants STEVEN E. WAI2SHAIt, BEIZKELEY PRENIIU.YI
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AO 246B tRev. 061e57 Sheet t -JeMgment in a CriminarCase

United States District C®Urt-
Sout3xern District of Ouo at C'ineiainati

U1VITED STATES OF AMERICA JUDGMENT IN A CRIMINAL CASE
V.

PAUL J. KELLOGG Case Number: 1:08-cr-00111(3)

USM Number - 04430-061

David Greer Esq., James Fleisher, Esq.
Defendanrs Attomey

THE DEFENDANT:

11
13
[3]

pleaded guity to count(s): _
pleaded nob contendere to counts(s)_ which was accepted by the court.
was found gu3ty on count{sL 30M 96 97 111 and 112 ofthe Indictment after a plea of not gullry.

The defendant is adjud'iaated guity of these offense(s):

Title & Section . _fditurs of Offense_ ©fferise Ended Ccun

See next paga.: ^ . . . :

The defendant is sentenced as provided in pages 2 through 8 of this judgment. The sentence is Imposed

pursuant to the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984.

[3] The defendant has been found not guilty on counts(s) 14 109 , 110 of tfie IndiGtmen .

[ J Count(s) `(is)(are) dismissed on the motion of the United States.

IT iS ORDERED that the defendant must notify the United States Attorney for thPs district within 30 days
of any change of name, residence, or mailing address until all fines, restitution, costs, and special assessments
imposed by this judgment are fully paid. If ordered to pay restitution, the defendant rnust notify the court and the

ic circumstances' .s economUnited States Attomey of matedal changes in the defendant

ugust 29, 2008
Date^0'( lpyposition of Ju^men

:r'e'o; Judic

S . ARTNUR SPIEGEt United States Senior District Judge
Name & Title of Judicial Officer
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CASE'NUMBER: 1:06-cr-00111(3)
DFFENDANT: PAUL,I.:KFILOGG• . ,. _. -•^ •n

ladp>tent-Page2 of 8

ADDITIOIVAL COUNTS OF COidVICTfON

e of OffenseN t Offenso Ended Gount
Tit1a & Section a ur

,.S.C. § 1956(h)J B U

1 B U.S.C. § 1956(h)

Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering

Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering

7/22/2005

7/22/2005

30

31

18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 and 2 Money Laundering 10/1/2004 96

18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 and 2 Money Laundering . 101112004 97

18 U.S.C. § 371 Conspiracy to Obstruct Proceedings
d D

9/2012006 11 i

18 U.S.C. § 371

Before the U.S. Food an rug
Administration

Conspiracy to Obstruct Proceedings Before . 9120/2006 112

the U.S. Federal Trade Commission
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4<6 LACK OF CANDOR

Absent aggravating or mitigating circunistances, upon application of the factors set out
in Standard 3.0, the following sanetions are generally appropriate in cases where the lawyer

eugages in fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation directed toward a client:

4.61 Disbarment is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly deceives a
client with the intent to benefit the lawyer or another, and causes serious

injury or potential serions injury to a client.

4.62 Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly deceives a
client, and causes injury or potential injury to the client.

4.63 Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer negligcntly fails to
provide a client with accurate or complete information, and causes injury or

potential injury to the client.

4.64 Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages in an isolated
instance of negligence in failing to provide a client with accurate or complete
information, and causes little or no actual or potential injury to the client.

5.0 VIOLATIONS OF DUTIES OWED'iO THE PUBLII;

5.1 FAILURE TO MAINTAIN PERSONAL INTEGRITY

Absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances, upon application of the factors set ont
in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving
commission of a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness,
or 5tness as a lawyer in other respects, or in cases with conduct involving dishonesty, fraud,

deceit, or misrepresentation:

5.11 Disbartnent is generally appropriate when:

(a) a lawyer engages in serious criminal conduct a necessary elemcnt of
which includes intentional interference with the administration of
justice, false swearing, misrepresetitation, fraud, extortion,
misappropriation, or theft; or the sale, distribntion or impm•tation of
controlled substances; or the intentional killing of atiother; or an
attetnpt or conspiracy or solicitation of anothcr to comtnit any of these

offenses; or
(b) a lawyer engages in any other intentional conduct involving

dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation that seriously

-20-
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adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice.

5.12 Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in
criminal conduct which does not contain the elements listed in Standard 5.11
and that seriously adversely reflects on thc lawyer's fitness to practice.

5.13 Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in any
other conduct that involves dishonesty, frand, deceit, or misrepreseutation
and that adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law.

5.14 Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer engages itt any other

conduct that reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness to practice law.

5.2 FAILURE TO MAINTAIN TI3E PUBLIC TRUS'1'

Absent aggravating or initigating circumstances, upon application of the factors set out
in Standard 3.0, the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases involving public
officials who engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice or who
state or imply an ability to influence improperly a government agency or official:

5.21 Disbarment is generally appropriate when a lawyer in an official or
governmental position knowing9y misuses the positian with the itttent to
obtain a signifecant benefit or advantage for himself or another, or with the
intent to cause serious'eir'potentially serious injury to a party or to the
integrity of the legal process.

5.22 Suspension is generally appropriate when a lawyer in an official or
governmental position knowingly fails to follow proper procedures or rules,
and causes injury or potential injury to a party or to the integrity of the legal

process.

5.23 Reprimand is generally appropriate when a lawyer in an official or
governmental position negligently fails to follow proper procedures or rules,
and causes injury or potential injury to a party or to the integrity of the legal

process.

5.24 Admonition is generally appropriate when a lawyer in an official or
governmental position engages in an isolatcd instance of negligence in not
following proper procedttres or rules, and causes little or no actual or
potential injury to a party or to the integrity of the legal process.

6.0 VIOLATIONS OF DUTIES OWED TO THE LEGAL SYSTEM

6.1 FALSE STATEMENTS, FRAUD, AiND MISREPRESENTATION

-21-
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Section 10. Guidelines for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions

(A) Each disciplinary case involves unique facts and circumstances. In striving for
fair disciplinary standards, consideration will be given to specific professional misconduct and to

the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors.

(B) In determining the appropriate sanction, the Board shall consider all relevant

factors; precedent established by the Supreine Court of Ohio; and the following:

(1) Aggravation. The following shall not control the Board's discretion, but may be

considered in favor of recommendhig a tnore severe sanction:

(a) prior disciplinary offenses;

(b) dishonest or selfish motive;

(c) a pattern of misconduct;

(d) multiple offenses;

(e) lack of cooperation in the disciplinary process;

(f) submission of false evidence, false statements, or other deoeptive practices dui-ing the

disciplinary process;

(g) refusal to acknowledge wrongful nature of conduct;

(h) vulnerability of and resulting harm to victims of the misconduct;

(i) failure to make restitution.

(2) Mitigation. The following shall not control the Board's discretion, but may be

considered in favor of recommending a less severe sanction:

(a) absence of a prior disciplinary record;

(b) absence of a dishonest or selfish motive;

(c) timely good faith effort to make restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct;

(d) full and free disclosure to disciplinary Board or cooperative attitude toward

proceedings;

(e) character or reputation;

(t) imposition of other penalties or sanctions;
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(g) chemical dependency or mental disability when there has been all of the following:

(i) A diagnosis of a cliemical dependency or mental disability by a qualified healtli care

professional or alcohol/substance abuse counselor;

(ii) A determination that the chemical dependency or mental disability contributed to

cause the misconduct;

(iii) In the event of chemical dependency, a certification of suecessful completion of an
approved treatment program or in the event of mental disability, a sustained period of successful

treatment;

(iv) A prognosis from a qualified health care professional or alcohol/substance abuse
counselor that the attorney will be able to return to competent, ethical professional practice under

specified eonditions.

(h) other interim rehabilitation.

[Section 10 Adopted by the Supreme Court of Ohio, effective June 1, 2000;

amended effective February 1; 2003]

(A)

(1)

As used in this section:

"Misconduct" has the same tneaning as used in Gov. Bar R. V, Section 6(A)(1);

(2) "Sanction" means any of the sanctions listed in Gov. Bar R. V, Section 6(B)(3),

(4), or (5).

(B) Fursuant to Gov. Bar R. V, Section 11(A)(3)(c), the relator and respondent may
enter into a written agreement wherein the respondent admits to alleged misconduct and the
relator and respondent agree upon a sanction to be imposed for that nzisconduet. The written
agreeinent may be entered into after a complaint is certified by the Board, but no later than sixty
days after appointment of a hearing panel. For good cause shown, the chair of the hearing panel
or the Board chair may extend the time for the parties to file a written agreement by an additional
tl7irty days. The written agrcement shall be signed by the respondetit, respondent's counsel, if
the respondent is represented by eounsel, and relator, and shall include all of the fol lowing:

(1) An admission by the respondent, conditioned upon acceptance of the agreement
by the Board, that the respotident committed the misconduct listed in the agreement;

(2) The sanction agreed upon by the relator and respondent for the misconduct

admitted by the respondent;
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